
 

 

Ottawa, 15 February 2022 

BY EMAIL 

Geoff White 

Executive Director and General Counsel  

Competitive Network Operators of Canada 

204 – 78 George Street 

Ottawa, Ontario  K1N 5W1 

geoff.white@cnoc.ca 

Re: Request for recusal filed by Competitive Network Operators of Canada   

Dear Mr. White: 

We are in receipt of your letter, and associated materials filed on behalf of the Competitive 

Network Operators of Canada (CNOC), dated 3 February 2022.  CNOC alleges in that letter 

that a reasonable apprehension of bias exists with respect to the Chairperson of the 

Commission and therefore requests the recusal of the Chairperson from consideration of 

certain telecommunications matters identified in those materials, which impact service-based 

competition.  

 

The purpose of this letter is to inform you that this request will not be considered by the 

Commission or posted to the Commission’s website under Part 1 of the Canadian Radio-

television and Telecommunications Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure, as the 

decision of a Member of the Commission to recuse themselves in respect of a matter is a 

decision that only the Member can make and does not engage the Commission’s processes. 

 

Consistent with the principles of administrative law, when a request for recusal is made in 

respect of a specific decision-maker, such as a Member of the Commission, the decision to 

recuse oneself is made by that decision-maker alone. This practice applies to all Members of 

the Commission upon their appointment and continues throughout their terms whenever 

matters are brought before them for decision. Whether recusal is appropriate in a given case 

is a question that each Member must decide each time they adjudicate a matter and the 

present situation is no different. 

 

Accordingly, when a telecommunications matter involving service-based competition is next 

before the Commission for consideration, the Chairperson will consider whether to recuse 

himself or not, as he has consistently done in respect of all matters since his appointment, and 
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he will render a decision with respect to his participation in those telecommunications 

matters at that time. 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Stephen Millington 

Senior General Counsel and Executive Director,  

Legal Sector 

 

c.c.:  Fiona Gilfillan, CRTC, fiona.gilfillan@crtc.gc.ca   

Crystal Hulley-Craig, CRTC, crystal.hulley-craig@crtc.gc.ca    

Anthony McIntyre, CRTC, anthony.mcintyre@crtc.gc.ca 

Distribution List 

 

Distribution List of 3 February 2022 CNOC letter 

Allstream Business Inc., doug.denney@allstream.com  

Bell Canada, bell.regulatory@bell.ca  

Beanfield Technologies Inc., regulatory@beanfield.com  

Bragg Communications Inc., operating as Eastlink, regulatory.matters@corp.eastlink.ca  

British Columbia Broadband Association, regulatory@bcba.ca  

Cogeco Cable Inc., telecom.regulatory@cogeco.com; leonard.eichel@cogeco.com  

Community Fibre, ben@communityfibre.ca  

Distributel Communications Ltd., regulatory@distributel.ca  

Internet Society Canada Chapter, regulatory@internetsociety.ca  

MTS Inc., regulatory@mts.ca  

Public Interest Advocacy Centre: piac@piac.ca; jlawford@piac.ca  

Quebecor Media Inc., on behalf of its affiliate Videotron GP, regaffairs@quebecor.com; 

patrick.desy@quebecor.com  

Rogers Communications Canada Inc., rwi_gr@rci.rogers.com; 

nathan.jarrett@rci.rogers.com; barry.choi@rci.rogers.com  

Saskatchewan Telecommunications, document.control@sasktel.com 
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Shaw Cablesystems G.P., regulatory@sjrb.ca; jocelyn.kearney@sjrb.ca 

Tacit Law, regulatory@tacitlaw.com  

TekSavvy Solutions Inc., regulatory@teksavvy.com; akaplanmyrth@teksavvy.ca  

TELUS Communications Inc., regulatory.affairs@telus.com; carreen.unguran@telus.com  

Uniserve Communications Corp., john.powell@uniserveteam.com  

Vaxination Informatique, jfmezei@vaxination.ca  

2251723 Ontario Inc. (Vmedia), george.burger@vmedia.ca  

Zayo Canada Inc., regulatory@zayo.com  
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